### Yale University EliScholar – A Digital Platform for Scholarly Publishing at Yale

#### Public Health Theses

School of Public Health

January 2014

## Breakfast Consumption Patterns And Obesity Risk Among Students In New Haven Public Schools

Sisi Wang Yale University, ss\_802321@hotmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: http://elischolar.library.yale.edu/ysphtdl

#### **Recommended** Citation

Wang, Sisi, "Breakfast Consumption Patterns And Obesity Risk Among Students In New Haven Public Schools" (2014). *Public Health Theses*. 1307. http://elischolar.library.yale.edu/ysphtdl/1307

This Open Access Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the School of Public Health at EliScholar – A Digital Platform for Scholarly Publishing at Yale. It has been accepted for inclusion in Public Health Theses by an authorized administrator of EliScholar – A Digital Platform for Scholarly Publishing at Yale. For more information, please contact elischolar@yale.edu.

# Breakfast consumption patterns and obesity risk among students in

**New Haven Public Schools** 

Sisi Wang

**MPH** Thesis

#### ABSTRACT

**Objectives.** We examined breakfast consumption patterns in a longitudinal sample of fifth to seventh grade students and the relationship between the different consumption patterns and weight status over time.

**Methods.** 1,534 fifth to seventh grade students from 12 randomly selected public schools in New Haven, Connecticut, completed school-based student surveys and physical measures during 2011 to 2013. We also identified students that participated in Breakfast in the Classroom (BIC) program.

**Results.** Using latent transition analysis, we identified four qualitatively different patterns of breakfast consumption: *frequent skippers or infrequent eaters*, *non-skipping mixed eaters*, *regular home eaters*, and *regular school or double breakfast eaters*. No evidence of association was found between double breakfast eaters and higher weight status, and there was no association between participating in BIC program and students' body mass index. However, we found a 3-fold increased risk of overweight or obese in skippers compared with regular school or double breakfast eaters.

**Conclusion.** Our findings support the current efforts to promote participation in school breakfast program. Regular breakfast consumption may have weight-gain prevention effect.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my sincerest gratitude to my two thesis advisors: Dr. Fatma M. Shebl and Dr. Marlene B. Schwartz for their support, encouragement, and guidance throughout this entire thesis project. I would also like to thank the research teams at Community Alliance for Research and Engagement and the Yale Rudd Center for Food Policy & Obesity –for their hard work and contribution to the design, operation, and data collection of the study. Finally, I would like to thank my colleagues at Yale School of Public Health for their moral support.

## **Table of Contents**

Introduction	6
Methods	7
Results	10
Discussion	15
References	

## List of Tables

Table 1. Description of Sample	24
Table 2. Latent Class Model Fit Indices	26
Table 3. Class Item-Response Probabilities, Prevalence of Latent Statuses, and Transition	
Probabilities	27
Table 4. Prevalence of Latent Statuses by Sex and Race/Ethnicity	29
Table 5. Crude Odds Ratio for Predictors of Class Membership at Grade 5	30
Table 6. Adjusted Odds Ratios for Predictors of Class Membership at Grade 5	31

## List of Figures

Figure 1 Weight status distribution of the four latent statuses	. 32
Figure 2 Factors assocated with overweight or obese	33

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The School Breakfast Program is a federally funded meal program that is designed to provide a nutritious meal to children in public and nonprofit private schools and residential child care institutions. There is consistent evidence that eating breakfast is associated with improved cognitive performance, nutritional adequacy, and bone and cardiovascular health.<sup>1-6</sup> However, the relationship between participating in the school breakfast program and body weight is unclear. There is research suggesting that eating breakfast in general is linked with healthier body weight, <sup>7-10</sup> and children who skip breakfast are more likely to be overweight and obese.<sup>1,10-13</sup> While other work has shown that offering children breakfast at school leads to higher rates of breakfast consumption, participation in the school breakfast program has not been shown to have a significant association with body weight.<sup>14,15</sup>

Currently, there are national advocacy efforts to promote higher levels of participation in school breakfast; specifically, to make it easier for low-income communities to be eligible for universal breakfast,<sup>16</sup> and to offer universal Breakfast in the Classroom program.<sup>17</sup> One concern about promoting school breakfast policies is that it may inadvertently increase the likelihood of consuming a "double breakfast." The USDA School Breakfast Pilot Study found that 20% of the students in six school districts ate two or more breakfasts. Further, within that group, 46% ate what was defined as a "substantive breakfast" at home in addition to the school breakfast they consumed.<sup>18</sup> In light of the epidemic of childhood obesity, it is important to make sure that efforts to promote school breakfast do not lead to excess overall caloric consumption by at-risk children due to serving them a second breakfast at school.

In the present study, we aim to (1) explore breakfast consumption patterns and its predictors in a longitudinal sample of fifth to seventh grade students; (2) explore the relationship

between baseline breakfast consumption patterns and weight status over time; and (3) explore the role of the Breakfast in the Classroom program on breakfast consumption and weight outcomes.

#### **METHODS**

#### **Study Participants**

Participants for this study were drawn from 12 K-8 (kindergarten through eighth grade) schools that were randomly selected from a total of 27 schools in New Haven, Connecticut, a medium-sized urban school district. All 12 schools agreed to participate. We studied students who were enrolled in fifth grade in 2011-12 school year over a period of three years. Students who opted out of the study or missed the data collection visit at fifth grade were still eligible to participate at the following year, along with any transferred students in the participating schools. There were a total of 684, 701, and 694 students enrolled in fifth, sixth and seventh grades of the 12 selected public schools in 2011, 2012, and 2013 respectively. Of these, 584 (85.4%) students in fifth grade, 602 (85.9%) students in sixth grade, and 539 (77.7%) students in seventh grade with informed consent (assent and parental consent) completed both the student survey and physical measurements. We excluded students that provided data for only one of the three study years (N=191). Our final analytic sample included a total of 513 fifth grade, 553 sixth grade, and 468 seventh grade students. We compared the characteristics of students in the final analytic sample and students with missing data or provided data for only one of the three study years. Compared with the final analytic sample, at baseline, those that were excluded had a lower proportion of Hispanics (46.8% vs. 32.3%) and a higher proportion of students that participated in Breakfast in the Classroom program (22.7% vs. 40.6%). There was no significant difference in sex, age, weight status, and breakfast consumption between the two samples.

#### Measures

Following informed consent, student data were collected through three sources: student surveys, physical measurements, and the school district's administrative database. Yale Institutional Review Board approval and informed consent (student assent and parental consent) were obtained prior to each year's data collection.

#### Student surveys

Student surveys assessed student breakfast consumption patterns. Trained research staff read all survey questions and responses aloud while the students entered responses on their own desktop computers via a Survey Monkey online survey (Surveymonkey.com, LLC; Palo Alto, CA). To describe breakfast consumption patterns, students were asked to answer (a) the typical number of days in a week they eat breakfast, and (b) the location where they ate breakfast the previous school day, with the choices of **home**, **school**, **both home and school** or **I didn't eat breakfast**.

#### Physical measurements

Trained research staff obtained student physical measurements using the World Health Organization Expanded STEPS protocol.<sup>19</sup> Height was measured using a standardized stadiometer (Charder Electronic Co., Ltd., Taichung City, Taiwan) to the nearest half-centimeter, and weight was measured using an electronic flat scale (Seca Co, Hamburg, Germany) to the nearest tenth of a pound. All physical measurements were linked via school-assigned identification numbers to protect students' privacy. The measured heights and weights were then used to calculate Body Mass Index (BMI) (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) for each student. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) categorization of sex-and age-specific BMI percentile was used in the study.

#### Administrative data

Student sex, race/ethnicity, and grade level were obtained from school district records. Eligibility for free or reduced school breakfast program at baseline was included in the analysis as a proxy for family socioeconomic status. In addition, researchers recorded the classes that participated in Breakfast in the Classroom during data collection visits to the school each year. These variables were treated as covariates in the analyses.

#### Statistical analysis

Initial analyses to assess the distribution of the data, missing values and outliers, frequency distribution, and the central tendency of the variables were conducted. Descriptive statistics were calculated for breakfast consumption, BMI, demographics and other student covariates. T-tests and the Chi-square tests were used to assess the bivariate associations between continuous and categorical variables respectively.

We used latent transition analysis (LTA) to identify unobserved breakfast consumption patterns underlying the observed data, and to estimate the transition probabilities of moving into or out of a given latent status membership. LTA is an extension of latent class analysis that allows longitudinal change of latent class membership over time. All LTA analyses were performed by using SAS software, version 9.2 (SAS Institute, Inc., Cary, North Carolina), and the procedure PROC LTA, version 1.3.1 Beta (The Methodology Center, Penn State).

Two categorical variables from the two questions in the student surveys were used as indicators (referred to as items in LTA models) of breakfast consumption. We first conducted LTA to identify the best baseline breakfast consumption latent statuses membership, and the transition probability from one status to the other, without including grouping variables or covariates. Models with different numbers of latent statuses were compared. Akiake Information Criterion  $(AIC)^{20}$ , Bayesian Information Criterion  $(BIC)^{21}$ , likelihood ratio G<sup>2</sup> statistic<sup>22</sup>, model

parsimony and interpretability criteria were considered when selecting the best model for the study. The interpretability criteria entails that the ability to distinguish different classes based on their item response probabilities, no class should be retained if it has near-zero probability, and finally a meaningful description of each class should be achievable. In addition, sex and race/ethnicity were incorporated as grouping variables to explore the sex or racial/ethnic differences in breakfast consumption patterns at baseline.

LTA allowed estimation of several parameters. More specifically, we estimated breakfast consumption latent status membership probabilities at baseline (delta), and item-response probabilities conditional on time and latent status membership (rho), which reflect the likelihood of reporting a particular observed item of breakfast consumption at each time point given the latent status membership. Furthermore, transition probabilities were calculated to determine the probabilities of transition from one breakfast consumption latent status to another over time (tau). Finally, we estimated coefficients of logistic regression (beta) by including covariates in the model to identify potential predictors of breakfast consumption class membership status at baseline and class membership transition over time. In all models, maximum likelihood method of estimation was used employing an expectation maximization (EM) algorithm.

Generalized Estimating Equations (GEE) models for categorical variables were used to predict BMI trajectory over time with regard to the latent statuses membership, and to also look into the role of Breakfast in the Classroom program on breakfast consumption. BMI values were collapsed into a binary variable: overweight/obese (yes/no), and student characteristics and other covariates were also incorporated into the model.

#### RESULTS

#### **Descriptive characteristics of the sample**

At baseline, the study sample included 46% boys and was racially and ethnically diverse: 17% non-Hispanic white, 36% non-Hispanic black, 47% Hispanic, and 1% other race/ethnicity. There were no substantial changes in demographics across the years. Approximately 83% of the sample at baseline was eligible for free or reduced school breakfast program. Based on the sex-and-age adjusted BMI cutoff percentile, 53% of the children in the sample were overweight or obese at baseline, and there was no significant change over time (p=0.221) (Table 1).

#### Patterns of breakfast consumption

Using the fit indices and model interpretability criteria, a four-class model was selected in this study. Although the  $G^2$  difference (37.31) between the model with four classes and the model with five classes was significant (p=0.03, df=23), after taking consideration of the AIC values and model interpretability, we selected the more parsimonious model with 4 classes (Table 2). For each latent status, the item-response probabilities, the overall prevalence of the status at each time point, and the transition probabilities are shown in Table 3. Based on the values of the item-response probabilities in each latent status, the following interpretational labels were given to the four statuses: frequent skippers or infrequent eaters, non-skipping mixed eaters, regular home eaters, and regular school or double breakfast eaters. These groups are referred to as skippers, mixed, regular home, and regular school. Those in the skippers status reported eating breakfast only 0 to 3 days a week (98%), and had the highest probability of not eating breakfast when asked about yesterday's consumption (84%). The status of *mixed* eaters was characterized by low probability of skipping breakfast (0% reported not eating breakfast at all) and notable heterogeneity within the class for breakfast location, although a higher preference for eating at home (53%). The regular home eaters were characterized by a 97.5% probability of eating breakfast 6-7 days a week, mostly at home (92%). Finally, students in the

*regular school* were similar to the *regular home* eaters in their high probability of having regular breakfast everyday (98%), but, distinctively, they had the highest probabilities of participating in the school breakfast program (52%) and being double breakfast eaters (45%).

At baseline, the most prevalent status was the *regular home* eaters (39.5%), followed by the *mixed* eaters (37.7%); the *skippers* latent status was the least prevalent (8%). However, the proportion of children in the *skippers* group progressively increased over time, with 19% of the students in this group by seventh grade. Similarly, the percentage of *regular home* eaters decreased dramatically to 23% in sixth grade and 28% in seventh grade.

The transition probability matrix reflects the likelihood of a transition from one status to a different status at different time points. For instance, *mixed* eaters in fifth grade had about 63% probability of being in the same status again in sixth grade, and a 17% chance of transitioning to the *skippers* status. Interestingly, the highest probability of transitioning to the *skippers* status was among children in the *mixed* eaters group, individuals that were neither skippers nor regular eaters at the time. This suggests that the *mixed* eaters group has the highest risk of becoming *skippers* over time. Similarly, *skippers* who changed statuses were most likely to transition to *mixed* eaters, and very unlikely to become *regular school* breakfast eaters over the study period. Overall, there was a higher probability for changes in status membership from fifth to sixth grade compared with sixth to seventh grade.

When examining the latent status prevalence by sex and race/ethnicity, some patterns emerged (Table 4). While the proportion of children who were *skippers* increased with time, the increase was greater for females than males (fifth grade: 7.1% female vs. 9.5% male; sixth grade: 18.0% female vs. 8.2% male; seventh grade: 28.1% female vs. 11.6% male). However, there were more male than female *regular school* eaters at every time point. The results also suggest

differences among the racial/ethnic groups. Compared with non-Hispanic whites, non-Hispanic blacks and Hispanics were more likely to be *regular school* eaters at every time point. In addition, as might be expected, they were less likely to be in the *regular home* group at every time point. The probabilities of being in the *skippers* or *mixed* eaters status were comparable between non-Hispanic whites and Hispanics, while non-Hispanic blacks had a higher probability of being *mixed* eaters.

#### **Predictors of Breakfast Consumption Pattern**

In the unadjusted LTA analysis (Table 5), at baseline, those who were males, eligible for free or reduced meals, and enrolled in schools that participated in Breakfast in the Classroom program were less likely to be *skippers* or *regular home* eaters compared with *regular school* eaters. In contrast, non-Hispanic whites and those who were overweight or obese were more likely to be *skippers, mixed eaters,* and *regular home* eaters compared with *regular school* eaters.

In the multivariable model, characteristics that remained independently associated with the different breakfast consumption patterns are shown in Table 6. The status for *regular school* was selected as the reference group, and an odds ratio (OR) larger than 1 indicated an increased risk of membership in a latent status compared with the reference. Significant racial/ethnic differences in breakfast patterns at baseline were identified (P < 0.0001). Compared with Hispanics or Non-Hispanic blacks, Non-Hispanic whites were roughly 3 times more likely to be *mixed* eaters, 11 times more likely to be *regular home* eaters, and more than 8 times likely to belong in the *skippers* latent status relative to the *regular school* status even after adjusting for other covariates. Similarly, children with overweight or obese BMI status were 4.4, 2.9, and 7.8 times more likely than healthy weight children to be *skippers*, *mixed* eaters, and *regular home* eaters, respectively (P=0.001).

To better understand the role of breakfast in the classroom program on breakfast consumption, we conducted a longitudinal analysis examining the relationship between breakfast consumption and participation in Breakfast in the Classroom program. After adjusting for year, clustering of students within school, and race, students in Breakfast in the Classroom program were less likely to be *skippers* compared with *regular school* eaters (OR: 0.39, 95% CI: 0.19, 0.82).

#### Association of the Latent Classes with Weight Status

Weight category was not proportionally distributed across the four latent breakfast statuses (Figure 1). Among fifth grade students that were in the *skippers* status, 71.1% of students were overweight or obese (15.8% and 55.3%, respectively). The proportion of overweight or obese did not change over time. By seventh grade, 72.6% of students in this class were overweight or obese (23.1% and 49.5%, respectively). On the other hand, substantially larger proportion of children classified as *regular school* eaters were identified as healthy weight (52.4% in grade 5, 52.2% in grade 6, and 67.3% in grade 7).

In the repeated measurement GEE analysis, accounting for the clustering of students within schools and the repeated measurements on the same student, and adjusting for the effect of year and race/ethnicity, a significant association between the latent class membership and weight category was revealed (p=0.005). Students in the *skippers* group were three times more likely to be overweight or obese compared with the *regular school eaters* (OR: 3.00, 95% CI: 1.39, 6.51). A grade effect was also observed in our study, such that the odds of being obese or overweight in 6<sup>th</sup> and 7<sup>th</sup> graders were 1.59, and 1.24 times the odds in the 5<sup>th</sup> graders

respectively. In addition, Hispanics and non-Hispanic blacks also had higher risks of obesity compared with non-Hispanic whites (Figure 2).

Because our fourth latent status included both regular school eaters and double breakfast eaters, to confirm our findings, we used the students' response to the question "location of breakfast consumption yesterday" to categorize them into double breakfast eaters (yes/no), and further examined the association between weight category and double breakfast eaters. After adjusting for other covariates and clustering effect, we found a negative relationship between double breakfast eaters and overweight or obese weight status (OR: 0.45, 95% CI: 0.32, 0.64).

#### DISCUSSION

Overall, our findings help to support the current efforts to promote participation in the school breakfast program. Four qualitatively different patterns of breakfast consumption among elementary school students were identified in our study: *frequent skippers or infrequent eaters, non-skipping mixed eaters, regular home eaters,* and *regular school or double breakfast eaters.* Prevalence of these patterns varied by sex, race/ethnicity, and weight status. Our study found the *regular school or double breakfast* status was not associated with students' BMI over time. This contributes to the scant evidence that school breakfast program will not lead to higher risk of obesity despite the possibility of consuming a second breakfast. To our knowledge, this is the first longitudinal study to explore patterns of breakfast consumption, including double breakfast, and obesity risk in the US, using a representative sample of elementary school students in New Haven, Connecticut. In addition, we demonstrated that complex analytic approaches such as LTA could be successfully used to understand different response patterns and to help identify specific risk groups that should be targeted by obesity prevention strategies.

Findings from this study have important implications to the current efforts to promote school breakfast, such as through Breakfast in the Classroom program. Specifically, we found students participated in Breakfast in the Classroom program were less likely to be breakfast skippers compared with those in schools that offered the traditional school breakfast program. There has been concern on the impacts of promoting school breakfast, as it can lead to double breakfast consumption and potential risks to obesity. Despite only 15% of the students were regular school or double breakfast eaters; we found no evidence between this group of students and higher weight status after adjusting for other covariates. In fact, there was no association between participating in Breakfast in the Classroom program and students' BMI. This study is the first to explicitly connect double breakfast and children's weight status over time. Studies have shown that children from lower-income households have a higher risk of obesity.<sup>23-27</sup> Since schools with Breakfast in the Classroom program are more likely to have higher numbers of free or reduced breakfast eaters and thus higher obesity risk; the absence of such relationship in our study further underscores that promoting school breakfast participation would not contribute to childhood obesity.

Among elementary school children, breakfast skipping increased over time and was more common in female students. Similar pattern was found in previous studies conducted in the US and in other countries.<sup>28-30</sup> We found being overweight or obese predicts the breakfast consumption patterns. More specifically, overweight or obese had eight times the odds of being *skippers* than *regular school* eaters. This suggests that not having regular breakfast might be used as a weight-control method among these students. In addition, being *skippers* were also associated with higher BMI status. This is in line with findings from many cross-sectional studies that examined breakfast skipping and weight status.<sup>1,12,13,31-35</sup> The bi-directional

association between BMI and the *skippers* latent status might explain the increased prevalence of overweight or obese children in this group.

Few studies have tracked weight change and different breakfast consumption patterns longitudinally,<sup>10,36</sup> and no studies have previously compared the risk of being overweight or obese in breakfast skippers versus double breakfast eaters. In our study, a 3-fold increased risk of overweight or obese was identified in skippers or infrequent eaters compared with regular school breakfast eaters and even double breakfast eaters. This suggests the possibility that regular breakfast consumption may have weight-gain prevention effect, and associates with favorable weight status. In a study with many low-income children (83% of the students were eligible for free or reduced breakfast), breakfast skippers and infrequent eaters were most at-risk for being overweight or obese over time. It is likely that consuming a greater proportion of calories earlier in the day, such as from eating two breakfasts is compensated with fewer calories consumption from lunch, dinner or snacks. Additional research is needed to examine the total energy intake of children in the double breakfast group compared with the other breakfast consumption groups.

Given *skippers* had the highest risk of being overweight or obese over time, *mixed* eaters, in particular, deserve further discussion. Our transition probabilities suggested that this latent status had the highest risk of becoming *skippers or infrequent eaters* over time. Although this group of students ate breakfast, they have not yet formed regular breakfast eating habits. Therefore, even though this breakfast consumption pattern did not result in higher BMI, children in this status are at an elevated risk of obesity in near future, as they tend to slip into the *skippers* group over time. This result supports the use of LTA to detect behavior change. From a preventative point of view, this is the class for primary prevention. To prevent childhood obesity,

healthy behaviors, such as regular breakfast consumption habits and a more balanced diet overall.

Finally, in our study sample, the percentages of children who were overweight or obese during our study years (2011-2013) were alarming. In the US, around 34% of 6-11 years old were either overweight or obese in 2011-2012.<sup>37</sup> However, in our study, we found half of the children in this age group were overweight or obese at baseline, and the rate remained constant over time (53.3% in 2011, 54.8% in 2012, and 50.2% in 2013). Accompanying the higher-than-average rates of being overweight or obese, more than half of the students in our sample were not meeting the CDC's physical activity guidelines and reported only consuming 0 to 2 items of fruits or vegetables (including 100% juice) when asked about yesterday's consumption. These sobering findings suggest childhood obesity is a serious issue in the New Haven community and may have profound impacts on children's academic performance and health in adulthood. A number of existing initiatives in the community have focused on school as an important setting to address and reduce childhood overweight and obesity.<sup>38,39</sup> However, the impacts of these initiatives need to be rigorously assessed, and future interventions to reverse the obesity trend can consider incorporating strategies that promote regular healthy breakfast consumption.

This study has some limitations. We did not collect plate-waste data that could be linked with individual double breakfast eaters. Therefore, it is likely that some students did not eat two full breakfasts, but were identified as double breakfast eaters. Further research could consider collecting individual plate-waste data on double breakfast eaters to better understand this consumption pattern. Additionally, breakfast data collected for this study were self-reported by students and are subject to reporting error. We were unable to assess students' breakfast caloric intake, which should be measured and explored in future studies. Finally, our findings may only

represent the children in New Haven, Connecticut; results need to be replicated with other samples in future research.

In summary, as rates of breakfast skipping increase with age, the impact of having regular breakfast consumption in school-aged children may be significant. Our findings provide evidence for policy-makers and health professionals to use school as a venue to promote regular breakfast consumption. Using LTA, we were able to identify different patterns, changes, and predictors of breakfast consumption, and their associations with weight status over time. Understanding the different consumption patterns can provide insights into how we might develop effective strategies to reduce childhood obesity, as well as target children who are at greater risk of developing it.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Rampersaud GC, Pereira MA, Girard BL, Adams J, Metzl JD. Breakfast habits, nutritional status, body weight, and academic performance in children and adolescents. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. May 2005;105(5):743-760; quiz 761-742.
- 2. Hoyland A, Dye L, Lawton CL. A systematic review of the effect of breakfast on the cognitive performance of children and adolescents. *Nutrition research reviews*. Dec 2009;22(2):220-243.
- 3. Mahoney CR, Taylor HA, Kanarek RB, Samuel P. Effect of breakfast composition on cognitive processes in elementary school children. *Physiol Behav.* Aug 7 2005;85(5):635-645.
- 4. Ruxton CH, Kirk TR. Breakfast: a review of associations with measures of dietary intake, physiology and biochemistry. *The British journal of nutrition*. Aug 1997;78(2):199-213.
- 5. Song WO, Chun OK, Kerver J, Cho S, Chung CE, Chung SJ. Ready-to-eat breakfast cereal consumption enhances milk and calcium intake in the US population. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. Nov 2006;106(11):1783-1789.
- 6. Meyers AF, Sampson AE, Weitzman M, Rogers BL, Kayne H. School Breakfast Program and school performance. *American journal of diseases of children*. Oct 1989;143(10):1234-1239.
- 7. Affenito SG, Thompson DR, Barton BA, et al. Breakfast consumption by African-American and white adolescent girls correlates positively with calcium and fiber intake and negatively with body mass index. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 2005;105(6):938-945.
- 8. Sandercock GRH, Voss C, Dye L. Associations between habitual school-day breakfast consumption, body mass index, physical activity and cardiorespiratory fitness in English schoolchildren. *Eur J Clin Nutr*. 2010;64(10):1086-1092.
- 9. de la Hunty A, Gibson S, Ashwell M. Does Regular Breakfast Cereal Consumption Help Children and Adolescents Stay Slimmer? A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Obesity Facts*. Mar 2013;6(1):70-85.
- Barton BA, Eldridge AL, Thompson D, et al. The relationship of breakfast and cereal consumption to nutrient intake and body mass index: The National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Growth and Health Study. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. Sep 2005;105(9):1383-1389.
- 11. So HK, Nelson EA, Li AM, et al. Breakfast frequency inversely associated with BMI and body fatness in Hong Kong Chinese children aged 9-18 years. *The British journal of nutrition*. Sep 2011;106(5):742-751.
- 12. Szajewska H, Ruszczynski M. Systematic Review Demonstrating that Breakfast Consumption Influences Body Weight Outcomes in Children and Adolescents in Europe. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* 2010;50(2):113-119.
- Vaezghasemi M, Lindkvist M, Ivarsson A, Eurenius E. Overweight and lifestyle among 13-15 year olds: A cross-sectional study in northern Sweden. *Scandinavian journal of public health.* May 2012;40(3):221-228.
- 14. Baxter SD, Hardin JW, Guinn CH, Royer JA, Mackelprang AJ, Devlin CM. Children's body mass index, participation in school meals, and observed energy intake at school meals. *Int J Behav Nutr Phy.* Mar 24 2010;7.

- 15. Paxton AE, Baxter SD, Tebbs JM, et al. Nonsignificant Relationship between Participation in School-Provided Meals and Body Mass Index during the Fourth-Grade School Year. *J Acad Nutr Diet.* Jan 2012;112(1):104-109.
- 16. The White House. The White House and USDA announce School Wellness Standards. 2014; <u>http://www.whitehouse.gov/the-press-office/2014/02/25/white-house-and-usda-announce-school-wellness-standards</u>.
- 17. No Kid Hungry Campaign. Not enough kids are eating school breakfast 2014; http://www.nokidhungry.org/back-to-school/.
- 18. Bernstein LS, McLaughlin, J.E., Crepinsek, M.K., Daft, L.M. Evaluation of the School Breakfast Program Pilot Project: Final Report 2004.
- 19. World Health Organization. WHO STEPS Instrument
- 20. Akaike H. A New Look at the Statistical Model Identification *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control.* 1974;19:716-723.
- 21. Schwarz G. Estimating the Dimension of a Model *The Annals of Statistics* 1978;6:461-464.
- 22. Read TRCC, N. A. C. *Goodness-of-fit Statistics for Discrete Multivariate Data* New York Springer-Verlag 1988.
- 23. Singh GK, Siahpush M, Kogan MD. Rising social inequalities in US childhood obesity, 2003-2007. *Annals of epidemiology*. Jan 2010;20(1):40-52.
- 24. Skelton JA, Cook SR, Auinger P, Klein JD, Barlow SE. Prevalence and Trends of Severe Obesity Among US Children and Adolescents. *Acad Pediatr*. Sep-Oct 2009;9(5):322-329.
- 25. Drewnowski A, Rehm C, Kao C, Goldstein H. Poverty and childhood overweight in California Assembly districts. *Health Place*. Jun 2009;15(2):631-635.
- 26. Wang YF, Zhang Q. Are American children and adolescents of low socioeconomic status at increased risk of obesity? Changes in the association between overweight and family income between 1971 and 2002. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. Oct 2006;84(4):707-716.
- 27. Lee NE, De AK, Simon PA. School-based physical fitness testing identifies large disparities in childhood overweight in Los Angeles. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. Jan 2006;106(1):118-121.
- 28. Siega-Riz AM, Popkin BM, Carson T. Trends in breakfast consumption for children in the United States from 1965-1991. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. Apr 1998;67(4):748S-756S.
- 29. Brugman E, Meulmeester JF, Spee-Van der Wekke A, Verloove-Vanhorick SP. Breakfast-skipping in children and young adolescents in The Netherlands. *Eur J Public Health*. Dec 1998;8(4):325-328.
- 30. Cornelius LJ. Health habits of school-age children. *Journal of health care for the poor and underserved*. Winter 1991;2(3):374-395.
- 31. Deshmukh-Taskar PR, Nicklas TA, O'Neil CE, Keast DR, Radcliffe JD, Cho S. The relationship of breakfast skipping and type of breakfast consumption with nutrient intake and weight status in children and adolescents: the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 1999-2006. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. Jun 2010;110(6):869-878.

- 32. Alexander KE, Ventura EE, Spruijt-Metz D, Weigensberg MJ, Goran MI, Davis JN. Association of breakfast skipping with visceral fat and insulin indices in overweight Latino youth. *Obesity*. Aug 2009;17(8):1528-1533.
- 33. Kapantais E, Chala E, Kaklamanou D, Lanaras L, Kaklamanou M, Tzotzas T. Breakfast skipping and its relation to BMI and health-compromising behaviours among Greek adolescents. *Public health nutrition*. Jan 2011;14(1):101-108.
- 34. So HK, Nelson EAS, Li AM, et al. Breakfast frequency inversely associated with BMI and body fatness in Hong Kong Chinese children aged 9-18 years. *Brit J Nutr.* Sep 14 2011;106(5):742-751.
- 35. Baldinger N, Krebs A, Muller R, Aeberli I. Swiss Children Consuming Breakfast Regularly Have Better Motor Functional Skills and Are Less Overweight Than Breakfast Skippers. *J Am Coll Nutr*. Apr 2012;31(2):87-93.
- 36. Berkey CS, Rockett HR, Gillman MW, Field AE, Colditz GA. Longitudinal study of skipping breakfast and weight change in adolescents. *International journal of obesity and related metabolic disorders : journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity*. Oct 2003;27(10):1258-1266.
- 37. Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Kit BK, Flegal KM. Prevalence of childhood and adult obesity in the United States, 2011-2012. *JAMA*. Feb 26 2014;311(8):806-814.
- 38. Yale School of Public Health. New Haven Public School Health Heroes. 2012; http://care.yale.edu/implementation/action/healthheros.aspx.
- 39. New Haven Public Schools. DWC Initiatives <u>http://www.nhps.net/node/523</u>.

#### **Figure Legends**

#### Figure 1 Weight status distribution of the four latent statuses

**Figure 2 Factors associated with overweight or obese.** Variables with significant association with overweight or obese are shown along the vertical axis. The strength of the association is shown along the horizontal axis with the vertical dashed line indicating an odds ratio of 1 (no association). Each square represents the point estimate of the effect of the variable in the model, while the line represents the 95% confidence interval.

## Table 1. Description of Sample

Characteristic	Grade 5 N (%)	Grade 6 N (%)	Grade 7 N (%)	P for trend
Indicators of Latent Classes				
Breakfast Frequency				<.0001
0 day/week	14 (2.8)	30 (5.4)	28 (6.1)	
1-3 days/week	72 (14.1)	94 (17.0)	101 (22.0)	
4-5 days/week	78 (15.3)	89 (16.1)	78 (17.0)	
6-7 days/week	346 (67.8)	339 (61.4)	253 (55.0)	
Yesterday's Breakfast Location				.045
Did not eat	59 (11.6)	97 (17.6)	107 (23.1)	
Home	302 (59.5)	252 (45.7)	216 (46.7)	
School	85 (16.7)	138 (25.1)	86 (18.6)	
Both home and school	62 (12.2)	64 (11.6)	54 (11.7)	
Covariates				
Sex				.575
Male	236 (46.0)	248 (44.9)	207 (44.2)	
Female	277 (54.0)	305 (55.2)	261 (55.8)	
Race/Ethnicity				.473
Non-Hispanic white	88 (17.2)	99 (17.9)	81 (17.4)	
Non-Hispanic black	182 (35.5)	195 (35.3)	153 (32.8)	
Hispanic	239 (46.6)	255 (46.1)	229 (49.1)	
Other	4 (0.8)	4 (0.7)	3 (0.6)	

Eligibility for Breakfast Program

---

Free/Reduced	415 (82.8)			
Full	86 (17.2)			
Participate in Breakfast in the				< 0001
Classroom Program				<.0001
No	397 (77.4)	350 (63.3)	393 (92.3)	
Yes	116 (22.6)	203 (36.7)	33 (7.8)	
Body Mass Index				.221
Underweight	10 (2.0)	9 (1.6)	9 (1.9)	
Healthy weight	227 (44.8)	241 (43.6)	224 (47.9)	
Overweight	108 (21.3)	119 (21.5)	105 (22.4)	
Obese	162 (32.0)	284 (33.3)	130 (27.8)	

*Note:* Dashes indicate missing information.

Classes	Likelihood-	Degree of	AIC	BIC
	Ratio G <sup>2</sup>	Freedoms		
2	1057.16	4078	1091.16	1165.33
3	985.46	4063	1049.46	1189.07
4	894.22	4044	996.22	1218.74
5	856.91	4021	1004.91	1327.78

Table 2. Latent Class Model Fit Indices

*Note*: Bold font indicates the selected model.

## Table 3. Class Item-Response Probabilities, Prevalence of Latent Statuses, and Transition

## Probabilities

	Frequent skippers or infrequent eaters	Non- skipping mixed eaters	Regular home eaters	Regular school or double breakfast eaters
Item-Response Probabilities:				
Breakfast Frequency				
0 day/week	.338	.000	.000	.009
1-3 days/week	.639	.213	.002	.010
4-5 days/week	.024	.373	.022	.000
6-7 days/week	.000	.415	.975	.981
Yesterday's Breakfast Location				
Did not eat	.835	.132	.001	.017
Home	.100	.530	.921	.009
School	.064	.253	.029	.523
Both home and school	.001	.086	.040	.451
Prevalence of Statuses at:				
Grade 5	.080	.377	.395	.148
Grade 6	.134	.431	.233	.202
Grade 7	.193	.411	.281	.116
Transitions from Grade 5				
(rows) to Grade 6 (columns):				
Frequent skippers or	.456	.449	.095	.000

infrequent eaters				
Non-skipping mixed eaters	.169	.634	.009	.188
Regular home eaters	.086	.238	.486	.190
Regular school or double	000	418	204	377
breakfast eaters	.000	.10	.204	.577
Transitions from Grade 6				
(rows) to Grade 7 (columns):				
Frequent skippers or	747	214	039	000
infrequent eaters	., .,		.037	.000
Non-skipping mixed eaters	.162	.785	.000	.052
Regular home eaters	.040	.000	.960	.000
Regular school or double	069	216	254	461
breakfast eaters		.210	.20 1	

	Frequent skippers or infrequent eaters	Non-skipping mixed eaters	Regular home eaters	Regular school or double breakfast eaters
Male				
Grade 5	.095	.259	.359	.286
Grade 6	.082	.379	.230	.309
Grade 7	.116	.293	.314	.278
Female				
Grade 5	.071	.436	.366	.128
Grade 6	.180	.406	.198	.216
Grade 7	.281	.308	.260	.151
Non-Hispanic white				
Grade 5	.094	.207	.524	.175
Grade 6	.138	.316	.398	.149
Grade 7	.207	.323	.365	.105
Non-Hispanic black				
Grade 5	.096	.381	.296	.228
Grade 6	.096	.421	.176	.308
Grade 7	.105	.498	.219	.205
Hispanic				
Grade 5	.064	.375	.333	.229
Grade 6	.155	.378	.159	.307
Grade 7	.254	.304	.238	.179

## Table 4. Prevalence of Latent Statuses by Sex and Race/Ethnicity

Covariates	Non- skipping mixed eaters	Regular home eaters	Skippers or infrequent eaters	Regular school or double breakfast eaters	P-value
Male	0.23	0.39	0.47		.006
Non-Hispanic white	1.20	4.64	4.00		.001
Eligible for free or	1 44	0.38	0.84		002
reduced meals	1.44	0.58	0.64		.002
Participate in					
Breakfast in the	0.22	0.38	0.32		.050
Classroom Program					
Overweight/obese	2.86	2.36	5.95		.006

## Table 5. Unadjusted Odds Ratio for Predictors of Class Membership at Grade 5

*Note:* Dashes indicate the reference class.

Covariates	Frequent skippers or infrequent eaters	Non- skipping mixed eaters	Regular home eaters	Regular school or double breakfast eaters	P-value
Male	0.60	0.23	0.56		.013
Non-Hispanic white	7.59	2.70	10.76		<.0001
Participate in					
Breakfast in the	0.37	0.29	0.57		.078
Classroom Program					
Overweight/obese	7.82	4.40	2.92		.001

 Table 6. Adjusted Odds Ratios for Predictors of Class Membership at Grade 5

Note: Dashes indicate the reference class.



## Figure 1



